III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. The Circuit Court erred in ruling that federal and state excise taxes paid by a 

gasoline material are not to be included in determining "cost" under Section 6(a) of the West 

Virginia Unfair Trade Practices Act as a matter of law. 

2. The Circuit Court erred in ruling that the fact that federal and state excise taxes 

are imbedded in a gasoline retailer's "invoice cost" is immaterial when determining whether 

such taxes should be included in the calculation of "cost" under Section 6(a) of the West Virginia 

Unfair Trade Practices Act. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Statement of Facts 

Petitioner Alan Enterprizes, LLC ("Alan Enterprizes") and Respondent Mac's 

Convenience Stores LLC d/b/a Circle K ("Mac's Convenience Stores") are competitors engaged 

in the business of selling retail gasoline in Bridgeport, West Virginia. Alan Enterprizes, a West 

Virginia limited liability company, operates three retail gas stations/convenience stores in the 

vicinity of Bridgeport [JA 036]. Mac's Convenience Stores is a Delaware corporation and a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of Alimentation Couche-Tard Inc., which is one of the largest 

company-owned convenience store operators in the world, with more than 16,000 stores across 

Canada, the United States, Europe, Mexico, Japan, China, and Indonesia. Mac's Convenience 

Stores operates in the Great Lakes Region, which includes West Virginia. It operates a single 

retail gas station/convenience store in Bridgeport under the trade name "Circle K," which it 

acquired as part of a larger acquisition of 26 retail gas stations/convenience stores in Northern 

West Virginia, Pennsylvania, and Maryland from Chico Enterprizes in October 2011 [JA 307]. 



The process by which retail gas stations acquire their gasoline varies from retailer to 

retailer, as it does here, depending on the nature of the retailer's relationship with its supplier. 

Alan Enterprizes purchases its gasoline from Joe Defazio Oil Company, which is owned by Alan 

Enterprizes' sole shareholder. Joe DeFazio Oil Company, in turn, purchases gasoline from oil 

suppliers at terminals, paying an amount per gallon that is the sum of the "rack 'price" (i.e., the 

current price of gasoline which fluctuates based on market conditions, generally changing 

multiple times per week and varying between terminals) and excise taxes [JA 169]. Joe Defazio 

Oil Company then charges Alan Enterprizes that amount-as invoiced by the oil supplier-plUS 

applicable transportation costs to the retail station and a flat markup of 3.5¢ per gallon [JA 169]. 

Alan Enterprizes relies on separate paper invoices which show the quantity of gasoline 

purchased and the amount of taxes [JA 169]. 

By contrast, Mac's Convenience Stores purchases gasoline directly from oil suppliers at 

the terminal, allowing it to pay a lower contract price for the gasoline and avoid paying the 

markup charged by an intermediate wholesaler such as Joe Defazio Oil Company [JA 303]. 

However, Mac's Convenience Stores is still required to pay excise taxes. Mac's Convenience 

Stores utilizes a paperless system in which its suppliers provide electronic data that is imported 

into Mac's Convenience Stores' computer system reflecting all charges associated with fuel 

purchases [JA 308]. The supplier can also draft Mac's Convenience Stores' bank account(s) 

directly for any charges associated with the fuel. Either way, Mac's Convenience Stores 

typically is charged for the gasoline within a few days from the date of picking up the gasoline, 

whereas the supplier bills for excise taxes separately and on a different schedule-usually one or 

two times per month-via the electronic system [JA 309]. 
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With respect to pncmg at the gas stations themselves, Mac's Convenience Stores' 

practices were designed to undercut the prices of competitors. On multiple occasions per day, 

Respondent Joyce Sammon, who was employed as manager at the Bridgeport Circle K station 

during the time period at issue in this case, would survey the gasoline prices posted by nearby 

Sheetz, GoMart, Speedway, and, for a limited time, Kroger stations. Sammon would then input 

those competitor survey prices into the "PriceNet" computer program, which generated a 

proposed price according to preprogrammed price generation rules [JA 351].1 These rules were 

under the direct control of Mac's Convenience Stores and were changed at its discretion when it 

decided to modify its pricing strategy. The proposed price was exported from PriceNet to the 

store for the store manager to execute [JA 348-349]. Ms. Sammon readily admitted in her 

deposition that it was the strategy of Mac's Convenience Stores most of the time to be at least a 

penny below the competitors surveyed so the Mac's Convenience Stores Bridgeport station 

would be the low price leader [JA 351-352]. Ms. Sammon candidly acknowledged that most of 

the time, the station she managed was the "low price leader for gasoline prices in the Bridgeport 

area" [JA 352]. 

Mac's Convenience Stores' price data reveals that on the vast majority of days, the 

Bridgeport station's price generation rule was set as "Lowest Competitor with Delta" [JA 355

432]. This rule created a proposed price based on the lowest competitor plus an applicable 

"delta" offset, which was often -1. According to Mac's Convenience Stores, the delta value 

decision is driven by a retail gasoline station's volume performance to budget; if volume is 

favorable, Mac's Convenience Stores might go to a match position, which is a delta ofzero or +1 

[JA 332]. 

I "Rule" means "parameter" (JA 454]. 
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However, the Bridgeport store was a low volume store, so price had to be kept low [JA 

333]. This lowest price position was designed to-and did-pull gasoline sales from 

competitors to the Mac's Convenience Stores Bridgeport station, there being only a finite 

number of gasoline customers [JA 353]. As set forth more fully below, this strategy 'to 

intentionally divert sales from competitors, coupled with gasoline prices that were set below the 

minimum legal price under the West Virginia Trade Practices Act approximately 87% of the 

time [JA 128, 312], was unlawful. 

B. Procedural History 

Alan Enterprizes filed its Complaint on November 10, 2014 in the Circuit Court of 

Harrison County, West Virginia. In an Amended Complaint [JA 035-043] filed on August 4, 

2015, Alan Enterprizes brought a single claim against Mac's Convenience Stores, Joyce Salmon, 

being the manager of the Bridgeport Circle K station, and Louis Diab, being the Fuel Director for 

the company's Great Lakes Region (collectively, "the Respondents"),2 alleging that the 

Respondents had sold gasoline from that station at prices that violated the West Virginia Unfair 

Practices Act, W.Va. Code § 47-11A-1 et seq, ("the WVUPA"),3 and seeking to recover 

damages Alan Enterprizes allegedly suffered from having to substantially reduce its retail 

gasoline prices in response to this unlawful gasoline pricing. 

The WVUPA prohibits a retailer from selling a product at below "cost"---comprised of 

the retailer's invoice cost, less any discount, plus freight charges and a markup of 7% reflecting, 

in part, the cost of doing business-with the intent to destroy or having the effect of destroying 

2 Sammon and Diab were included as Defendants pursuant to W.Va. Code § 47-IIA-4, which provides that "[a]ny 
person who, as ... agent of any fIrm or corporation ... assists or aids, directly or indirectly, in such violation should 
be responsible therefor equally ..." 
3 The WVUPA was amended in W.Va. Acts 2016, c. 217, eff. June 9, 2016. This case-from the original 
Complaint to Judge Tabit's Order which is the subject of the instant appeal-is governed by the pre-amendment 
version (1939) of the WVUP A. Therefore, all quotes from the WVUPA contained herein are from this previous 
version, unless stated otherwise. 
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competition. W.Va. Code §§ 47-IIA-2 and 47-11A-6. "Invoice cost" is not defined in the 

statute, but as explained below, a gasoline retailer's invoice cost is actually comprised of the 

supply cost-being the rack or contract price-along with federal and state excise taxes. On 

August 20, 2015, Respondents filed an Answer and Counterclaim [JA 044-057] in which they 

denied that they had violated the WVUP A and, in turn, alleged that Alan Enterprizes had 

violated the WVUP A. 

On October 7, 2015, the parties filed a Joint Motion to Refer Action to the Business 

Court Division, and on November 9, 2015, an Administrative Order [JA 056-057] was entered 

by Chief Justice Margaret L. Workman transferring this action to the Business Court Division. 

Judge Joanna I. Tabit was assigned as the presiding judge. 

On September 28, 2016, Alan Enterprizes filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment 

[JA 058-094] seeking to establish that excise taxes are, as a matter oflaw, included within Mac's 

Convenience Stores' invoice cost and, as such, must be included in the "cost" formula set forth 

in W.Va. Code § 47-11A-6(a). Thus, Alan Enterprizes asserted that the retail gasoline prices 

posted at the Bridgeport Circle K station were below "cost" 87% of the time over a period of 

1,555 days in violation of W.Va. Code § 47-IIA-2, as demonstrated by Mac's Convenience 

Stores' own data.4 

On September 30, 2016, Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment [JA 095

286] which argued, conversely, that they had not sold gasoline below "cost;" that Alan 

4 In the course of discovery, Respondents produced Mac's Convenience Stores' cost per gallon of gasoline on a 
daily basis for October 17, 2011 through December 17, 2014, which was inclusive of excise taxes [JA 458-481]. 
Alan Enterprizes determined that the total invoice cost (inclusive of taxes) and freight cost per gallon by dividing the 
"Cost Plus Tax" value by the "Sales (Gallons)" value [JA 482-500]. Alan Enterprizes then determined the legal 
minimum price by applying a 7% markup to the total invoice (inclusive of taxes) and freight cost. By comparing the 
calculated legal minimum price to the "Daily Retail per gallon" value, Alan Enterprizes determined the dates when 
Mac's Convenience Stores had priced gasoline below its legal minimum price and by how much the sales price at 
the pump was below that legal minimum price. Alan Enterprizes ultimately concluded that Mac's Convenience 
Stores had sold gasoline at less than the legal minimum price, by varying amounts, on 1,005 out of 1,155 days, or 
87% of the time during that period [JA 128, 134,317-318]. 
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Enterprizes could produce no evidence that Mac's Convenience Stores had ever sold fuel below 

cost with the requisite intent necessary to establish liability under the WVUPA; that Alan 

Enterprizes could produce no evidence to rebut the applicability of the "good faith" provision of 

W.Va. Code § 47-11A-8(d); and that Alan Enterprizes was precluded from recovering treble 

damages because of the July 1, 2016 amendment to W.Va. Code § 47-11A-9. Importantly, 

Mac's Convenience Stores urged a construction of "cost" that excludes excise taxes [JA 104

107,291-294]. 

On January 3, 2017, an Order [JA 001-007] was entered granting summary judgment in 

favor of the Respondents and denying Alan Enterprizes' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. 

Specifically, the Circuit Court ruled that taxes should not be included in a retailer's "cost" 

because W.Va. Code § 47-11A-6(a) is silent as to "applicable taxes" pursuant to the maxim of 

statutory construction expressio unius est exclusio alterius. Additionally, the Circuit Court 

essentially ruled that the fact that gasoline taxes are, in reality, imbedded in a gasoline retailer's 

"invoice cost" was immaterial when determining whether taxes on gasoline should be included_ 

in Mac's Convenience Stores' "cost" under the statute. 

As Respondents' counsel had been directed to prepare the summary judgment Order, and 

because Mac's Convenience Stores counterclaim remained pending, Alan Enterprizes moved for 

the entry of a final judgment with respect to the Court's summary judgment. On January 3, 

2017, the Court also entered an Order Granting Plaintiffs Motion for Entry of Judgment under 

Rule 54(b) and Motion for Stay of Further Proceedings [JA 008-010]. 

6 




v. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


Alan Enterprizes and Mac's Convenience Stores are competitors in the business of retail 

gasoline sales. Alan Enterprizes operates three gas stations/convenience stores and Mac's 

Convenience Stores operates one gas stati0n!convenience store in the vicinity of Bridgeport, 

West Virginia. Alan EnterjJrizes filed an action against Mac's Convenience Stores alleging that 

Mac's Convenience Stores sold gas at its Bridgeport station that violated the West Virginia 

Unfair Practices Act, § 47-11A-l et seq. (1939), and alleging that it suffered damages from 

having to substantially reduce its retail gasoline prices as a result of Mac's Convenience Stores' 

unlawful pricing. 

Following the transfer of the case to the Business Court Division, Alan Enterprizes filed a 

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to establish that federal and state excise taxes on gasoline 

are included within the "cost" formula set forth in W.Va. Code § 47-11A-6(a), and Mac's 

Convenience Stores filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which, among other arguments, 

posited a construction of the "cost" formula that excludes such excise taxes on gasoline. The 

Circuit Court granted summary judgment to Mac's Convenience Stores, and denied Alan 

Enterprizes' motion, on the basis that "invoice cost" as defined in Section 6(a), applicable to 

retailers, does not mention "applicable taxes," whereas "invoice cost" as defined in Section 6(b), 

applicable to wholesalers, does. The Circuit Court applied the maxim expressio unius est 

exclusio alterius in concluding that the Legislature did not intend to include such taxes in a 

retailer's "cost." Furthermore, the Circuit Court ruled that "the Legislature did not build a 

structure within the Unfair Practice Act to determine the inclusion or exclusion of taxes within 

the cost calculation," therefore disregarding the important distinction between tax treatment in 

the retail gasoline context versus most other industries that are not subject to excise taxes. 
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With respect to its first assignment of error, Alan Enterprizes respectfully submits that the 

Circuit Court's application of the above-referenced maxim is erroneous. The maxim is an "aid" 

to statutory construction which should not have been applied because the statute is unambiguous. 

The term "invoice cost" clearly means the cost invoiced to the retailer. This plain meaning is 

supported by the language of former W.Va. Code § 11-14-7, which was in effect from the time 

the WVUP A was enacted until 2004 and mandated that the amount of tax be shown on the 

invoice for the sale of gasoline, and by the express direction in Section 6(a) of the WVUPA that 

the "cost" to the retailer "shall mean bona fide cost." 

Additionally, the maxim should not have been applied because, contrary to the Circuit 

Court's ruling, the legislative intent is clearly expressed in the WVUP A. The primary rule of 

statutory construction is to give effect to the intention of the Legislature. Section 1 of the 

WVUPA contains the Legislature's findings with regard to the detrimental effect of sales below 

cost; Section 14 expressly states the purpose of the statute is to safeguard the public from and 

combat these detrimental effects; and Section 2 makes it unlawful to sell any product below cost 

for purposes of unfairly diverting trade and destroying competition. Furthermore, Section 14 

expressly requires that the statute be liberally construed. 

Alan Enterprizes' second assignment of error relates to the Court's ruling that the reality 

that federal and state excise taxes on gasoline are imposed upon and paid by the retailer is 

immaterial in determining whether such taxes should be included in the calculation of "cost" 

under Section 6(a). However, the Court's ruling overlooks the universality of the WVUPA in 

that it applies to sales of all products, even though most retail sales (excluding gasoline retailers) 

are subject to a sales tax which is paid by the ultimate consumer, rather than the retailer. Again, 
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the Circuit Court's ruling fails to appreciate that the term "cost" in Section 6(a) "shall mean bona 

fide cost." 

Finally, the Circuit Court's ruling that taxes are excluded from a retailer's "cost" under 

Section 6(a) leads to an absurd result which is contrary to the express intent of the Legislature, as 

it would allow a gasoline retailer to price its gasoline significantly below its break-even cost 

without violating the WVUP A. Clearly this is not what the Legislature intended as manifested in 

the legislative findings and statutory purpose provisions. This ruling thereby violates an 

important rule of statutory construction, being that it is incumbent upon courts to construe a 

statute according to its true intent and disregard a construction that would lead to injustice and 

absurdity. Accordingly, Alan Enterprizes respectfully requests that the Circuit Court's Order 

granting summary judgment to the Respondents and denying Alan Enterprizes' Motion for 

Partial Summary Judgment be overturned and that the case be remanded. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner requests oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of 

Appellate Procedure. W.Va. R.App.P. 20(1) and (2). Whether excise taxes which are actually 

part of a retailer's "invoice cost" should be included in the calculation of "cost" under Section 

6(a) of the West Virginia Unfair Practices Act is a question that has not previously been 

addressed by this Court. Moreover, this novel question is one of fundamental public importance, 

with serious economic implications for all retail gasoline businesses in West Virginia. 
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VII. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 Standard of Review 

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. 

Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). See also Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M v. Charles 

A.I., 194 W.Va. 138,459 S.E.2d 415 (1995) ("Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit 

court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo 

standard of review."); State ex. reI. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W.Va. 

770, 776, 416 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995) ("As a result of this inquiry being strictly a matter of 

statutory construction, our power of interpretive scrutiny is plenary."); 

B. 	The Circuit Court erred in ruling that federal and state excise taxes paid by a 
gasoline material are not to be included in determining "cost" under Section 6(a) of 
the West Virginia Unfair Trade Practices Act as a matter oflaw. 

1. How "cost" is defined in the West Virginia Unfair Practices Act. 


The WVUPA prohibits the sale of goods below "cost," being the minimum legal price as 


calculated using the formula set forth in the statute. W.Va. Code § 47-11A-2. Section 6(a) of 

the statute, which governs retail sales, provides: 

(a) The term "cost" when applicable to the business of retailer shall mean bona 
fide cost and shall mean (i) the invoice cost of the article, product, or item of 
merchandise to the retailer or the replacement cost thereof to the retailer 
within thirty days prior to the date of sale, offer for sale or advertisement for 
sale, as the case may be, in the quantity last purchased, whichever is lower, 
from either of which there shall be deducted all trade discounts, except 
customary discounts for cash, and (ii) to either of which there shall be added 
the following items of expense: 

(1) Freight charges not otherwise included in the cost of the article, 
product or item of merchandise, but which freight charges shall not be 
construed as including cartage to retail outlet if done or paid for by the 
retailer; 

(2) A markup to cover, in part, the cost of doing business, which markup, 
in the absence of proof of a lesser cost, shall be seven percent of the 
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aggregate of invoice cost or replacement cost (whichever is used), less 
trade discounts as aforesaid, and plus said freight charges. 

W.Va. Code § 47-11A-6(a). Similarly, Section 6(b) of the statute, addressing wholesalers, 

provides: 

(b) The term "cost" when applicable to the business of a wholesaler shall mean 
bona fide cost and shall mean (i) the invoice cost of the merchandise to the 
wholesaler plus applicable taxes, or the replacement cost of the merchandise 
to the wholesaler within thirty days prior to the date of sale, offer for sale or 
advertisement for sale, as the case may be, in the quantity last purchased, 
whichever is lower, from either of which there shall be deducted all trade 
discounts, except customary discounts. for cash and (ii) to either of which 
there shall be added the following items of expense: 

(l) Freight charges not otherwise included in the cost of the article, 
product or item of merchandise, but which freight charges shall not be 
construed as including cartage to the retail outlet if done or paid for by 
the wholesaler;

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