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

that result would be nonsensical, it would undercut the Act's goal of providing a level playing 

field for competition. And Courts would be forced to make multiple individual inquiries in every 

case simply to apply W. Va. Code § 47-11A-6, reducing certainty and predictable application of 

the Act. Businesses would not know their "cost" absent litigation, and they could not make 

rational economic choices. 

Second, Petitioner's approach would make the determination of "cost" depend on the 

product at issue. Petitioner explicitly argued for this result below. E.g., Appx 551 (arguing 
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"retailers have varying, industry-specific 'invoice costs"'). By arguing that fuel taxing and 

invoicing laws are the special ingredient that compel "invoice cost" to mean "invoice cost plus 

applicable taxes," Petitioner apparently concedes that other products are not necessarily subject 

to the same calculation. Results under this framework would be neither uniform nor predictable, 

and there is again no indication the Legislature intended it. 

Rather than make case-by-case investigations into each retailer's invoicing practices and 

tax law to apply the Act, the Court should simply apply the language of the Act and uphold the 

Circuit Court's interpretation that taxes are not a part of a retailer's "cost." 

B. 	 Petitioner's second assignment of error is a red herring. The Circuit Court 
found neither that excise taxes are imbedded in a retailer's "invoice cost" nor 
that such a fact, if true, would be immaterial. 

Petitioner attempts to make much out of the Circuit Court's observation that "the 

Legislature did not build a structure within the Unfair Practice Act to determine the inclusion or 

exclusion of taxes within the costs calculation, depending on when and how taxes are assessed in 

a particular industry or when assessed by an individual business." Appx 4. But its second 

assignment of error simply recapitulates the first, arguing again that 1) how taxes are assessed, 

and 2) how low "cost" would be without including applicable taxes, both somehow compel the 

Court to include applicable taxes in the "invoice cost" regardless of what the Legislature 

provided. Neither argument should prevail. 

The second assignment of error, like the first, relies on arguments concerning how taxes 

must be paid and/or invoiced that were never made to the Circuit Court. The Court should 

disregard these new arguments. Plus, as explained supra, taxes are not in fact paid "at the 

terminal." (See Petitioner's Brief at 15). The evidence below showed that, contrary to 

Petitioner's position, West Virginia retailers do not necessarily pay taxes when they are invoiced 

for fuel. Even the Joe Defazio Oil Company is billed for taxes separately from its fuel 
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purchases, on a weekly or bi-weekly basis. Appx 169 (Defazio depo. at 219:20-220:22). Mac's 

also is billed for the West Virginia tax separate from fuel, on a completely different schedule. 

Appx 309 (Gooldy affidavit ~~ 4-6). 

Further, whether or not taxes must be paid has never been the issue. Petitioner's 

argument that taxes are "imbedded" or "mandatory" is just another way of saying the taxes are 

"applicable." There is no dispute that Mac's must pay whatever taxes are assessed. But 

knowing that "applicable taxes" must be paid does not answer the relevant question of whether 

"applicable taxes" are included in "cost." 

The Circuit Court also rejected Petitioner's argument that excluding taxes renders the Act 

somewhat toothless in the context of fuel sales, stating that "this, perhaps unintended, collateral 

effect should be resolved, if at all, legislatively." Appx 4. This Court too should apply what the 

Legislature wrote, rather than attempting to gloss over this language to accommodate a particular 

result. 

Finally, the portion of the Circuit Court's ruling relied on by Petitioner in its second 

assignment of error simply points out a fundamental flaw with Petitioner's interpretation: 

Petitioner would tum the meaning of "invoice cost" into a fact question, one that would turn on 

the specifics of each case and guarantee inconsistent results. This issue has already been 

addressed supra. But the Circuit Court's observation that the Act lacks a "structure" for case-by

case determination of what "invoice cost" means is yet another reason not to adopt Petitioner's 

view. And the Court can avoid that varying, fact-intensive approach simply by giving effect to 

W. Va. Code § 47-11A-6. "Invoice cost" cannot possibly include "applicable taxes" because 

otherwise the Legislature would not have instructed that the calculation of a wholesaler's "cost" 

must consider the "invoice cost ... plus applicable taxes." 
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C. Regardless of Petitioner's assignments of error, other grounds exist to affirm. 

The Court may affirm the result below without deciding whether taxes are included in a 

retailer's "cost," because alternative grounds to affirm exist. "An appellate court is not limited to 

the legal grounds relied upon by the circuit court, but it may affirm or reverse a decision on any 

independently sufficient ground that has adequate support." Murphy v. Smallridge, 196 W. Va. 

35,36-37,468 S.E.2d 167, 168-69 (1996). 

Mac's presented to the Circuit Court multiple grounds for dismissal at the summary 

judgment stage. Because the Circuit Court agreed with Mac's interpretation of the Act, it did not 

need to reach the other arguments. Appx 5. This Court nevertheless may affirm on the other 

dispositive grounds: namely, I) Petitioner had no evidence to show a sale below "cost" even if 

taxes were included, 2) Petitioner had no evidence of tortious intent, and 3) Petitioner had no 

evidence to contradict the applicability of the "good faith" provision under W. Va. Code § 47-

IIA-8. Each of these grounds was fully briefed below, presented here in summary fashion. 

1. Even if taxes were included, Mac's still did not sell below "cost." 


Even assuming taxes were included, Petitioner failed to come forward with a single 


witness or piece of evidence to show Mac's ever sold below "cost" during the relevant period. 

Mac's submitted its cost data and showed that, whether using its "invoice cost" or its lower 

"replacement cost," its posted prices were always at or above the markup described in W. Va. 

Code 47-IIA-6 (1983). Appx 174 (Diab affidavit ~ 14). Petitioner failed to rebut this below. 

First, not one of Petitioner's three retained experts was even asked to determine whether or when 

Mac's ever sold below cost. Appx 577. Second, rather than submit different evidence, 

Petitioner simply asserted that the exact same data relied on by Mac's showed a violation of the 

Act on 87% of all days during the relevant period - but Petitioner did not follow the Act's 
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instructions on how to calculate "cost." Petitioner's 87% figure is based on omitting any 

consideration of replacement cost, contrary to § 47-11A-6(a). (Petitioner's Brief at 5 n. 4). 

Petitioner completely ignored the portion of the Act instructing that "cost" should be 

based on the lower of either Mac's "invoice cost" or "the replacement cost thereof ... within 

thirty days prior to the date of sale." W. Va. Code § 47-11A-6(a)(i) (1983). Petitioner made no 

analysis of Mac's 30-day replacement cost whatsoever, as conceded again in Petitioner's Brief, 

which reveals that it did not consider replacement cost in arriving at its calculation of Mac's 

"cost." (Petitioner's Brief at 5 n. 4). In footnote 4 of its appeal brief, Petitioner explains that its 

calculation of "cost" relied entirely on the daily cost, irrespective of whether the 30-day 

replacement cost was lower. Section 47-11A-6 explicitly instructs to use the lower of the two. 

Petitioner's purported "evidence" that Mac's markup above its "invoice cost" was too low 

therefore does not rebut Mac's evidence that it complied with the Act - even if Petitioner had 

been able to show that the Mac's markup above its "invoice cost" was too low on a given day, 

that would not mean the Mac's markup above its lower, 30-day "replacement cost" was too low. 

Thus, Petitioner could not show that a single price posted at the Bridgeport Mac's was 

less than the markup required of a retailer under § 47-11A-6(a)(ii)(2), because Petitioner did not 

follow the correct calculation - even assuming the highest possible markup of 7%, and even 

assuming taxes are part of "invoice cost." Mac's evidence that it never sold below "cost" went 

uncontroverted on summary judgment. Appx 174 (Diab affidavit ~ 14). Because Petitioner 

could not show that Mac's sold below "cost" even if taxes are included, it is technically moot 

whether taxes must be included in "cost." This Court may affirm on either basis. 

2. Petitioner had no evidence of the necessary tortious intent. 

Petitioner failed, both in discovery and summary judgment briefing below, to come 

forward with evidence that Mac's ever sold fuel with the requisite intent necessary to establish 
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liability. Therefore, even if Petitioner could show that Mac's sold fuel below "cost," it still could 

not satisfy a prima facie case. 

Again, not all sales below "cost" are prohibited. Even if Petitioner could show a sale 

below cost, it also would have to prove that the sale was made "for the purposes of unfairly 

diverting trade from or otherwise injuring one or more competitors, and destroying competition." 

w. Va. Code § 47-11A-2 (1983). 

When asked after the close of discovery to state its evidence of culpable intent, Petitioner 

could not identify any. Appx 129-30 (Responses to Interrogatories 6 and 7). Instead, Petitioner 

claimed only three generalizations, unsupported by any evidence. First, Petitioner claimed 

Mac's "unfairly" undercut its competition to "divert sales," which was not only unsupported by 

any evidence, but also suffered from the problem that it is nothing more than an ominous way to 

describe ordinary competition. By definition, all competitors compete for sales, but that does not 

violate the Act - a tortious purpose is required. Mr. Defazio conceded, for example, that trying 

to be competitive is not the same as trying to harm competition or divert trade, et cetera. Appx 

166-67 (Defazio depo. at 124:13-125:24). Second, Petitioner claimed Mac's violated the Act 

87% of the time, which was also unsupported by evidence and incorrect. Mac's markup always 

exceeded 7%. Appx 174 (Diab affidavit ~ 14). And Petitioner's 87% figure is based on omitting 

replacement cost, contrary to § 47-11A-6(a). (Petitioner's Brief at 5 n. 4). Third, Petitioner 

claimed - again without evidence - that Mac's lost money on fuel sales, which was also simply 

incorrect. Appx 235-36 (Gooldy affidavit ~ 4). 

On summary judgment, Petitioner fared no better. Perhaps most importantly, not one of 

Petitioner's three arguments had anything to do with the kind of intent described in the Act. 

Even if Petitioner's unsupported assertions were true, that still would not rebut the undisputed 
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evidence that Mac's did not act with culpable intent. Appx 173 (Diab affidavit ~~ 9-10). 

Because Petitioner could point to no evidence of culpable intent below, the Court may affirm on 

this ground. 

3. 	 Petitioner had no evidence to contradict the applicability of the "good faith" provision 
in W. Va. Code § 47-11A-8(d) (1983). 

Whereas Mr. Defazio openly admitted to selling fuel at prices he believed to be illegal, 

that was not Mac's strategy. Appx 163 (Defazio depo. at 111:2-5). And on summary judgment 

Petitioner had no evidence to rebut the fact that Mac's acted at all times in good faith. 

The good faith provision of the Act is dispositive. The Act simply does not "apply" to 

sales made in a good faith effort to meet competitor pricing, even if the resulting price is 

technically below "cost": 

The provisions of this article shall not apply to any sale made: 

(d) In an endeavor in good faith to meet the legal prices of a 
competitor as herein defined selling the same article, product or 
item of merchandise, in the same locality or trade area. 

W. Va. Code § 47-11A-8 (1983). This "good faith" provision is important because all retailers' 

costs are different. If the law did not allow one retailer to price below its costs to meet 

competition, then the retailer with the lowest costs would be the only one with the lowest prices. 

But the "good faith" provision allows a competitor to follow the market. 

To be clear, the "good faith" defense does not require any investigation into whether the 

competitors' prices are below "cost." In B.F. Specialty Co. v. Charles M Sledd Co., 197 W.Va. 

463, 475 S.E.2d 555 (1996), the plaintiff, a seller of cigarettes, alleged violations of the Act 

when a competitor in his area purportedly sold cigarettes below cost. The defendant responded 

that the price was set in good faith to meet the legal price of another competitor in the same 

locality or trade area. 475 S.E.2d at 558. Because the plaintiff could not rebut this, it attempted 
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to narrowly construe the "good faith" exception and argued that "good faith" required the seller 

to first investigate whether the competitor's price was a legal price. This Court promptly 

rejected that extreme argument: 

Further, the [plaintiff asserts] that the only way the [defendant] 
could make a determination that the competitor's price was a legal 
price would be to conduct an examination of its competitor's books 
and records in order to perform an analysis of the competitor's 
price to ensure that it was a legal price. The [defendant] argues that 
the good faith exception in the Act would not require the 
performance of such an impractical act in order to be assured that 
the competitor's price is a legal price. We agree. 

Id. at 559. Going further, the Court established that the defendant's proffered jury instruction 

was "a correct statement of the law." That instruction read: 

One of the exceptions to the West Virginia Unfair Trade Practices 
Act is where the price is set in good faith to meet the legal price of 
a competitor in the same locality or trade area. This exception does 
not require the defendant to examine his competitor's books to 
ascertain whether the competition was legal. Rather, all that is 
required of the defendant is that it act in good faith. 

Id. Numerous other states with similar laws have taken the same approach. See State by Clark v. 

Wolkoff, 250 Minn. 504, 85 N.W.2d 401, 407 (1957) (holding that a competitor can be in 

compliance with the good faith exception even if he has not established the absolute legality of 

its competitor's prices); May's Drug Stores, Inc. v. State Tax Comm 'n, 242 Iowa 319, 45 N.W.2d 

245, 256-57 (1950) ("Good faith is all that is required of a distributor under the exemption to 

meet competition"); State v. Sears, 4 Wash.2d 200,103 P.2d 337, 345 (1940) (holding that "if a 

merchant in good faith reduces his prices to meet those of a competitor, who he in good faith 

believes has a legal price, he will not be violating either the intent or the wording of the act"). 

Indeed, some courts have held that mere "direct testimony of such 'good faith'" is enough to 

avoid liability. State by Clark v. Wolkoff, 85 N.W.2d at 407. 
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Below, Mac's showed that its pricing strategy was consistently to follow the market and 

meet competition. Appx 173 (Diab affidavit ~~ 9-10). When asked at the close of discovery to 

identify all of its evidence that might rebut the fact that Mac's consistently sold fuel in good 

faith, Petitioner could identify none. Instead, it made the same argument rejected in B.F. 

Specialty Co. - that it was "highly improbable" Mac's competitors' prices were legal. Appx 

127-29 (Responses to Interrogatories 4 and 5). Again, this argument was made without any 

evidentiary support, which is not enough to avoid summary judgment. But just as importantly, 

even if its competitors' prices were not legal, that does not rebut Mac's good faith efforts to 

follow the market under the standard adopted by this Court. And on summary judgment, 

Petitioner could not show a single day (either during the entire period that is the subject of this 

dispute or just the subset of those days on which Petitioner contended the price was below 

"cost") where the price posted by Mac's was below the lowest competitor price posted that day. 

Because Petitioner had no evidence to rebut the good faith provision, the Court may 

affirm on this ground as well. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The Court should affirm, under either of two rationales. First, the Court should agree 

with the interpretation of the Act adopted by the Circuit Court. Second, if the Court finds that 

the Circuit Court misinterpreted the Act, then this Court should nevertheless affirm under one or 

more of the alternative grounds for summary judgment raised below but never reached by the 

Circuit Court. 

In the event this Court disagrees with the Circuit Court and chooses not to consider the 

alternative grounds for summary judgment, then it should remand to the Circuit Court with 

specific instructions to rule on those alternative, dispositive grounds before proceeding with 

other matters. 

25